THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

OCT 10 2018

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-001669

THE STATE

RESPONDENT

v.

OSCAR JAMES SMALL, JR.

APPELLANT

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

ELIZABETH FRANKLIN-BEST

SC Bar No. 72555

Blume Franklin-Best & Young, LLC

900 Elmwood Avenue, Suite 200

Columbia, SC 29201

(803) 765-1044

Counsel for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Oscar James Small, Jr., was tried before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr. and a jury from July 24 to July 27, 2017 for criminal sexual conduct with a minor under age eleven and exposing another to the HIV virus in the Orangeburg County Court of General Sessions. Indictment Nos. 2017-GS-38-1066, 2017-GS-38-0204. He was represented by W. Scott Palmer. The State was represented by Ashley Cornwell and Warren Giese.

Appellant was convicted on both indictments and sentenced to 25 years for criminal sexual conduct with a minor and a consecutive ten-year sentence for exposing another to the HIV virus.

This appeal timely follows.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

Appellant, Oscar Small was tried and convicted of the sexual assault of a young girl. Because he is HIV+, he was also tried for knowingly exposing another to the virus. This young girl's mother had mental health issues, and often lived in other places. The mother had been institutionalized three times. She had been diagnosed with ADHD, bipolar, and schizophrenia. ROA 58. Small's wife, Detra, was one of the child's godmothers. Deborah, Detra's sister, was also a godmother. When the child would visit, she and Small would treat the girl like a "princess." They bought her whatever she wanted; they took her to church. ROA 82, 106. At one point, they sought to adopt the little girl. Detra Small and Oscar Small were set to adopt the child, but then the mother changed her mind. ROA 307.

According to the child's aunt, before kindergarten the child began to act inappropriately, in a sexual way. ROA 64. The aunt overheard the child disclose a sexual assault to her mother over the phone. ROA 65. The police were not called. When the child started kindergarten, she got into trouble for doing inappropriate things with little boys. ROA 67. The aunt told the school what the child had earlier said, and then the school called the police. ROA 68. After the aunt met with the police, she and the child were instructed to speak to CASA. ROA 69. They went for an interview, but the equipment was broken. Later, the aunt and mother went back to CASA to find out why CASA had not contacted them again. ROA 70. They scheduled another appointment. ROA 71. The aunt testified the child was still acting inappropriately, "touching on herself, touching others." ROA 71. She was also wetting

her bed, and wetting herself. They scheduled an interview for December 10, 2015. After that interview, they scheduled an appointment with the hospital in Columbia. ROA 72.

During this time frame, the child was also around other men-- her two uncles, the aunt's step-brother, and Deborah's husband, Teddy. ROA 85.

Describing the house where the child said these events occurred, Detra described the living room floor as being unfinished. Appellant had removed the carpet, and was going to tile it as an anniversary present. There was exposed wood and tacks in that area of the house. ROA 320.

The key evidence offered against Small was the testimony of the child, who was 8 years old at the time of trial. ROA 92. The State also offered the testimonies of Dr. Carol Swiecicki, an expert qualified in the area of child abuse dynamics, and Dr. Susan Lamb, an expert qualified in the area of child sexual abuse and neglect.

The defense offered the testimonies of Demetria Roberts (the child's mother), Detra Small, Deborah Robinson, and Reverend Charles McLamore.

ARGUMENTS

I Did the trial court err in holding that the solicitor did not engage in impermissible bolstering of the alleged victim's testimony?

Prosecution witnesses cannot testify that they believe a child witness or offer any testimony that is intended to bolster a child witness' credibility. *Smith v. State*, 689 S.E.2d 629, 386 S.C. 562 (S.C., 2010),

Furthermore, it is impermissible for a prosecution witness to testify that a child witness gave a "compelling disclosure of abuse," or that the disclosure contained

details that were consistent with background information received from third parties like family members or police – testimony that amounts to commenting on the veracity of the child’s accusations. An expert cannot vouch for the truthfulness of the child witness. *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 (S.C., 2011).

The South Carolina Court of Appeals has identified testimony that lacked “relevance except insofar as it informs the jury [the child interviewer] believes the story told by the victim,” including:

- “we are looking for accuracy of information’ given by the victim;”
- “we are going to ... make sure that what the child is telling us is based on something they would have experienced on their own body or that they would have seen or heard, the sensory information;”
- “those statements have a level of detail that ... they would be able to tell [only] if something were to have happened;”
- “we are also looking at ... are there other possible reasons, are there other possible explanations;”
- “we are looking to see if [this] could ... be explained in another way;”
- “we are looking to be sure it adds up;”
- “we are looking to see if what they tell us throughout the interview is the same from the beginning to the end;”
- “we are also looking at their behavior and the way they are expressing themselves in the interview ... their behavior and their language;”

- “in forming her ‘opinion as to whether ... something happened,’ she considered whether the victim’s statements were ‘consistent with the other information’ she has on the case;”
- “informing her ‘opinion as to whether ... something happened,’ she considered ‘does this child appear to be giving statements that are similar to, in my experience, in my training and what I have learned, similar to what other children with the same experience may have had;” and
- “The compelling findings are the things that we look at, that we talked about looking at earlier in terms of how the disclosure comes about in the interview with me; whether it is detailed, does it have consistency, does it have the sensory level of detail that a child typically wouldn’t have, or *only would have if something had happened to them.*” (emphasis supplied by Court).

State v. McKerley, 397 S.C. 461, 466-67, 725 S.E.2d 139, 142-43 (Ct. App. 2012).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has identified additional testimony by state’s experts that is expressly prohibited, including:

- Testifying “that the child was told to be truthful;”
- Providing “a direct opinion as to a child’s veracity or tendency to tell the truth;”
- Making “any statement that indirectly vouches for the child’s believability, such as stating the interviewer has made a ‘compelling finding’ of abuse;”

- Making “any statement to indicate to a jury that the interviewer believes the child’s allegations in the current matter;” and
- Offering “an opinion that the child’s behavior indicated the child was telling the truth.”

State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 360, 737 S.E.2d 490, 500 (2013).

In *Briggs v. State*, 421 S.C. 316, 806 S.E.2d 713 (2017), the South Carolina Supreme Court again held that testimony that has no purpose other than to bolster a child witness’ credibility is improper, including where an expert witness testifies that:

- She stressed to the child witness the importance of telling the truth;
- It is her belief the child witness has not been coached; Her role is to determine whether the child witness knows the difference between the truth and a lie; and,
- The assessment is done “for the purpose of finding out if something happened or didn’t happen.”

This type of testimony invades the province of the jury by informing them that the decision as to whether the allegations are truthful has already been made, and it directly conveys to the jury that the expert believes the child witness. “There was no purpose for this testimony except to bolster the victim’s credibility, and thus it was improper.” *Id.*

Although the forensic interviewer was not called to the stand in this trial, similar bolstering testimony was elicited from multiple witnesses, including Dr. Carol

Swiecicki, who was qualified as an expert in child abuse dynamics; Dr. Susan Lamb, who was qualified as an expert in the field of child sexual abuse and neglect specifically in the areas of examination, review, and diagnosis of child sexual and physical abuse; Destiny Roberts, Detra Small, and Deborah Robinson.

In addition to the repeated bolstering testimony by the witnesses, the solicitor herself made statements to the jury on numerous occasions that were designed to bolster the child witness' credibility.

Bolstering by the Prosecutor

The prosecutor's first statement to the jury in her opening was: "Why do adults hurt children like this? That is the one and only question [the child witness] asked me after we had met for the very first time..." ROA 39. The prosecutor continued to speak to the jury about the question that she said the child asked her, injecting her personal beliefs by saying that "[i]t was probably the most hurtful question I have ever been asked before." ROA 39.

This statement, which became the prosecutor's theme throughout trial and was repeated during the unsworn testimony of the child witness, served no purpose other than to inflame the jury by appealing to their emotions, to bolster the child's testimony, and to communicate to the jury why they should believe the child. Why should the jury believe the child's testimony? Because, if she was not telling the truth, she would not know to ask that question. The prosecutor continued to ask the jury, "And how does she even know that's a question that she should ask?" ROA 40.

During her opening statement, the prosecutor continued to bolster the child witness' testimony, telling the jury that "there are many people that do not want to testify in trial and many rape cases go un-prosecuted because the victim is too afraid." ROA 41. The jury was left to infer that the child witness, who is afraid like other rape victims, *must* be telling the truth because she is risking so much by testifying in the face of her fear.

During the child witness' unsworn testimony, the prosecutor bolstered her credibility several times as well. At the beginning of the child's testimony, the prosecutor says that she told the child witness to tell the truth: "And you remember that in the very beginning told you I was going to give you a grade and it wasn't based on what you said because as long as you tell the truth?" ROA 92.

She then told the child that she was grading the child based on whether she "speak[s] using your words," "speak[s] loudly," and "sit[s] still." ROA 92-93. There was no reason for the prosecutor to inform the jury that the prosecutor had told the witness to be truthful other than to bolster her credibility in the eyes of the jurors.

In the presence of the jury, the prosecutor continued to question the child witness at length as to whether she will tell the truth or tell a lie in the courtroom:

Q All right. And [the child witness], do you know the difference between a truth and a lie?

A Yeah.

Q You do? What does it mean when you tell the truth?

A You done good.

Q And what happens if you tell a lie?

A You don't be good.

Q You don't be good. And if you tell a lie, do you get in trouble?

A Yes.

Q And if you tell a lie in here, what happens?

A You go to jail.

Q All right. So you don't want to tell a lie do you?

A Nope.

Q Okay. And when you talk to people, should you tell them the truth or should you tell them a lie?

A Truth.

Q All right. And I'm going to ask you a couple of things. Actually, I'm going to tell you a couple of things. And I want you to tell me if you think those things are the truth or if you think they're a lie, okay?

A (Nods in the affirmative)

Q So if I told you that your teacher last year was Ms. McRae, is that the truth or a lie?

A True.

Q And if I told you you have a baby brother, is that the truth or a lie?

A True.

Q If I said you're going to be in the tenth grade this year, is that the truth or a lie?

A Lie.

Q All right. And what would you say to make it true? What is the truth of that?

A I'm not going to be in the tenth grade. I will be in the second.

Q Good job. And do you promise that you will only tell the truth today?

A Yes.

Q And do you promise that if I say something that's a lie, you'll say it's a lie?

A Yes.

ROA 98-100.

Although the court must make a finding as to a child witness' competence to testify, these questions were asked and answered in the presence of the jurors, fitting into a greater pattern of bolstering of the child's credibility through witness testimony and statements made by the prosecutor herself.

Later, during the child witness' testimony, the prosecutor continued bolstering her credibility by reminding her and the jurors that the prosecutor has told the child witness she must only tell the truth:

Q Okay. And did I tell you that anytime you talked with me, did I say you had to tell me the truth or did I say you could lie?

A Truth.

Q Truth. Okay.

ROA 117.

The prosecutor continued to elicit testimony from the child about the question that the prosecutor referenced in her opening statement:

Q And do you remember after I finished asking you all those questions --

A Yes.

Q I let you asked me any question you wanted to know the answer to?

A Yes.

Q Do you happen to remember what question I [sic] asked you?

A Yes.

Q What question did I [sic] ask you? I'm sorry. What question did you ask me. Do you remember what question you asked me?

A (Nods head affirmatively)

Q What question was that?

A Why do people do that to kids.

Q Why do people do that to kids?

A Uh-huh. (Affirmative response)

Q Okay. I wasn't able to give you a very good answer, was I?

A I don't know.

ROA 117-18.

With her questions of the child witness, the prosecutor clearly signaled to the jury that the child witness was being truthful, because the prosecutor told her repeatedly she must be truthful, and because, as the prosecutor asked the jury in her opening statement, "And how does she even know that's a question that she should ask?" ROA 40.

The prosecutor continued to belabor the point, asking the child witness if the witness always told the prosecutor the same things because the child was "always telling the truth." ROA 119. The prosecutor then asked if the child told the truth "every time you've talked about what Oscar did to you," and if she is "telling the truth now?" ROA 120.

Towards the end of the child's testimony, the prosecutor stated to the witness that she "did a great job answering the questions I had for you," a statement that had no purpose other than to signal to the jurors that the prosecutor was satisfied that the witness has been truthful.

The prosecutor's statements to the jury and statements made during the questioning of the child witness are no less prejudicial than if an expert witness had made them. Statements that "the child was told to be truthful," statements that "indirectly vouch for the child's believability," or "an opinion that the child's behavior indicated the child was telling the truth," are inadmissible bolstering. *Kromah*, 401 S.C. at 360.

Bolstering by Dr. Swiecicki

Although Dr. Swiecicki was not qualified as a forensic interviewer, the prosecutor elicited bolstering testimony from Dr. Swiecicki related to the forensic interviewing process by asking Dr. Swiecicki how the interviewer determined whether a disclosure is credible and truthful and whether the child has been coached:

Q What are the signs that an interviewer typically looks for to determine the credibility of a disclosure? For instance, whether or not it's a credible, truthful disclosure or whether or not it's something that's been coached or told to the child?

ROA 174.

Dr. Swiecicki responded by describing in detail how an interviewer ensures that the child witness is being truthful and has not been coached, including source monitoring and whether the child's statements are consistent with their age. ROA 174-75.

The prosecutor continued to question Dr. Swiecicki about *how to determine the credibility of a disclosure*: “Q And when you’re determining the credibility of disclosure...” ROA 175, including whether leading questions are asked, whether responses are age-appropriate, and whether the child has been coached: “Q For instance, would you expect for a very young child under the age of seven to be able to retain specific details for coaching purposes?” ROA 176.

The questions and the answers elicited from the witness make it clear that the prosecution was attempting to qualify the witness as a “blind expert in the area of child abuse dynamics,” but then eliciting the same testimony from the expert that the appellate courts have found inadmissible from a forensic interviewer, using the expert as a “surrogate forensic interviewer” in an attempt to avoid reversal by the appellate courts.

Although Swiecicki was not qualified as an expert in forensic interviewing and admitted that she had conducted only one forensic interview in her career, *the majority of questions that were asked of her were about the forensic interviewing process and how the interviewer determines whether a disclosure is credible*.

The testimony that was elicited from Dr. Swiecicki, including testimony about how to determine whether a disclosure is credible and whether a child has been coached, is impermissible bolstering. *See, McKerley*, 397 S.C. at 466-67, *Kromah*, 401 S.C. at 460, *Briggs* at 421.

Whether she was qualified as an expert in “forensic interviewing” or as an expert in “child abuse dynamics,” the testimony and its prejudicial effect are the same.

Bolstering by Dr. Lamb

Dr. Susan Lamb was qualified as an expert “in the areas of examination, review, and diagnosis of child sexual and physical abuse.” ROA 220. Dr. Lamb was not qualified as a “blind expert,” as Dr. Swiecicki was, but rather Dr. Lamb’s testimony was that she examined the child witness and determined that her exam was consistent with sexual abuse. ROA 252-53.

The bulk of Dr. Lamb’s testimony also consisted of *how* Dr. Lamb would determine whether an abuse allegation is credible, including *how Dr. Lamb would diagnose whether abuse has occurred* and the following lines of questioning:

Q. And so in order for there to be a diagnosis or a review regarding consistency or inconsistency of abuse, you have to be specialized to make that type of diagnosis; is that correct?

ROA 222.

Q. During the physical exam, what are you specifically looking for to determine if sexual abuse has occurred?

ROA 225.

Q. When making your diagnosis, do you also review behavioral and physical characteristics that are generally associated with sexual abuse?

ROA 242.

Q. And in your profession, when diagnosing sexual abuse, are you looking at prior sexual behavior and how that is applied to age of the child?

ROA 244.

Dr. Lamb testified that, in order to make a diagnosis of whether sexual abuse occurred, she would also review information from third parties and incident reports:

Q. And in getting those law enforcement reports, forensic interviews and things like that, when reviewing those, what do you look for in those things to assist with your diagnosis?

A. So as far as referral sources, we look at if it's an incident report or a report there. We look at if they talked to the actual child. If there was an actual witness to what happened, those can be very helpful, so independent sources there that are credible witnesses.

ROA 237.

Dr. Lamb testified as to what the "best kind of disclosures" are:

So what you really want from a child is a free narrative, full of description, sights, sounds, basically what was going on ahead of time, after; kind of a full picture where you can see that they're seeing it in their mind and able to give that type of context. Those are the best kind of disclosures.

ROA 239.

The prosecutor asks Dr. Lamb how many cases do not result in a diagnosis consistent with sexual abuse:

Q. And in doing your review of these cases, how often do you determine that a case is not consistent with sexual abuse?

A. Certainly. So about a third of my cases don't have any type of abuse or neglect in them. We don't diagnose 100 percent.

ROA 247.

Dr. Lamb goes on to explain that the other two-thirds of her cases are "either undetermined with risk factors for abuse or diagnosed with abuse." ROA 247-48. Once she has made a diagnosis of abuse, she reviews the case with a child abuse

pediatrician, nurse practitioners, DSS, law enforcement, and a multi-disciplinary team, as a sort of quality-control peer review. ROA 248.

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