STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY  
The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-001669

---

THE STATE,

OSCAR JAMES SMALL, JR.

v.

Respondent,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. PASCOE, JR.  
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit

140 N. Main Street, Suite 102  
Summerville, SC 29483  
(843)-871-2640

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED  
OCT 09 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The issue of whether the solicitor engaged in impermissible bolstering of Victim's testimony is not preserved for appeal because Appellant did not make a contemporaneous objection or receive a ruling from the trial court on the admissibility of any of the alleged bolstering. Even if this Court determines this issue is preserved for appellate review, the solicitor did not engage in improper bolstering of Victim because the solicitor merely qualified Victim as a competent witness.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred by allowing the solicitor to engage in impermissible bolstering of Victim's testimony through multiple witnesses. Specifically, Appellant alleges the solicitor improperly bolstered Victim's testimony through: (1) the solicitor's own statements, (2) the testimony of Dr. Swiecicki, (3) the testimony of Dr. Lamb, (4) the testimony of Dedra Small elicited on cross examination, (5) the testimony of Deborah Robinson elicited on cross examination, and (6) the testimony of Aunt. Other than during the testimony of Dr. Lamb, Appellant did not object to any of the aforementioned witnesses' testimony on the grounds of improper bolstering or any other basis, nor did Appellant object to any of the solicitor's questions of these witnesses. Therefore, Appellant failed to preserve this issue for appeal. Even assuming for the sake of argument that Appellant preserved the issue of improper bolstering, Appellant's argument lacks merit. None of the questions asked by the solicitor improperly bolstered the testimony of Victim. Each witness offered admissible testimony helping to establish Appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

"In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal." State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003). A party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be clear that the

argument has been presented on that ground. State v. Russell, 345 S.C. 128, 546 S.E.2d 202 (Ct. App. 2001). “The rule is well established that if asserted errors are not presented to the lower Court, the question cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.” State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E. 2d 737, 742 (2005). “Our law is clear that a party must make a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial judge to preserve an issue for appellate review.” State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 420-21, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011).

“Witnesses are generally not allowed to testify whether another witness is telling the truth.” State v. McKerley, 397 S.C. 461, 464, 725 S.E.2d 139, 141 (Ct. App. 2012). “Even though experts are permitted to give an opinion, they may not offer an opinion regarding the credibility of others.” State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 358, 737 S.E.2d 490, 499 (2013). It is improper for an expert to “comment on the veracity of a child’s accusations of sexual abuse.” State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 480, 716 S.E.2d 91, 95 (2011).

Here, although Appellant failed to preserve the issue of improper bolstering for appeal in regards to any witness except Dr. Lamb, it is instructive to review Appellant’s assignments of error individually.

#### **Solicitor**

Appellant initially alleges the solicitor improperly bolstered Victim’s testimony with comments made during her opening statement and through questions asked of Victim on direct examination. As an initial matter, this issue is not preserved for appeal because Appellant did not object to the solicitor’s opening statement nor did he object during solicitor’s direct examination of Victim. In fact, counsel for Appellant admitted that he didn’t object to the solicitor’s opening statement and offered the following rationale for his decision: “the solicitor did something that I consider improper...It’s not proper. Why did I let it happen? Because I want you to see how

desperate they are for a conviction.” (R. 47, lines 9-18). During the State’s direct examination of Victim, Appellant did not object to any particular questions until the end of the examination when the solicitor asked Victim to tell the truth when counsel for Appellant cross examined her. (R. 122).

However, Appellant objected on the grounds the solicitor was coaching the witness, not on grounds it was improper bolstering. (R. 122). Even if Appellant had objected based on improper bolstering, Appellant’s objection was not contemporaneous to the questions he now complains about on appeal. The solicitor had completed her entire direct examination of Victim before Appellant offered a single objection. (R. 91-122).

Assuming, for the sake of argument, that Appellant properly preserved this issue for appeal, the solicitor did not engage in improper bolstering of Victim. The South Carolina Supreme Court has previously cautioned that forensic interviewers are not allowed to offer their opinion of whether a child witness is being truthful or whether a disclosure is credible. State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013). Here, the State did not present testimony from a forensic interviewer. The State didn’t need to call a forensic interviewer because Appellant stipulated to the admissibility of Victim’s forensic interview. (R. 5, 210-11). Appellant also stipulated that all questions asked of Victim during the interview were proper under Kromah. (R. 5, 210-11). Asking Victim whether she agrees to tell the truth is not the same thing as bolstering by a third party witness. A Victim cannot bolster her own testimony. Bolstering occurs when a third party offers their opinion on whether a particular witness is telling the truth. Here, the solicitor’s questions of Victim were designed to make sure Victim was a competent witness under rule 601 SCRE. The solicitor’s questions of Victim were simply not improper bolstering.

**Dr. Swiecicki**

Appellant next alleges the solicitor improperly bolstered Victim's testimony through the expert testimony of Dr. Swiecicki. As noted above, this issue is not preserved for appeal because Appellant did not object to any of the questions posed to Swiecicki by the solicitor. (R. 151-182). Assuming that Appellant properly preserved this issue for appeal, Dr. Swiecicki's testimony did not improperly bolster Victim's testimony.

It is well settled in South Carolina that an expert may not comment on the credibility of a child's disclosure of sexual abuse. State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 (2011). However, it is proper for an expert to testify about the behavioral characteristics of sex abuse victims. State v. Jones, Opinion No. 27822 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed July 5, 2018) (Shearhouse Adv. Sh. No. 27 at 18). See also State v. Anderson, 413 S.C. 212, 218, 776 S.E.2d 76, 79 (2015).

Here, Swiecicki testified as a blind expert in the general field of child abuse dynamics. (R. 156). Swiecicki had not met Victim, nor was she aware of any facts or details about the case. (R. 155-56). Accordingly, Swiecicki did not offer any opinions about the allegations and did not comment on the credibility of Victim. Rather, Swiecicki testified generally about cases of sexual assault where no physical evidence of assault is found, situations where children engage in inappropriate sexual behaviors, and delayed disclosure by child victims. (R. 157, 159, 164). Swiecicki was also asked general questions about forensic interviews and how they are conducted. (R. 173-78). Appellant alleges these questions were asked to use Swiecicki as a "surrogate forensic interviewer." (Initial Brief of Appellant, 13). Appellant misapprehends the nature the of the solicitor's questions. Impermissible bolstering only occurs when the State asks a forensic interviewer whether a child's disclosure is credible. Asking an expert witness general questions about the forensic interview process does not ask the expert to comment on the

veracity of the child's disclosure. Here, Swiecicki never commented on Victim's credibility. Therefore, Swiecicki never bolstered Victim's testimony.

**Dedra Small**

Appellant also alleges the solicitor bolstered the testimony of Victim through her cross examination of Small. This issue is not preserved for appeal because Appellant did not object during the State's cross examination of Small. Even if this issue were preserved for appeal, Appellant opened the door to this testimony through the questions asked of Small on direct examination. See State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 137, 731 S.E.2d 604, 610 (Ct. App. 2012). Among other things, Appellant asked Small about her prior experiences with Mother and Mother's reputation for truthfulness. (R. 306-08). Small was also asked about her desire to adopt Victim and how often Victim would stay at her house (R. 305-06). The implication of Appellant's questioning was that Mother had previously been dishonest with law enforcement and previously used the court system to her advantage and therefore may have influenced Victim to lie about Appellant's abuse to gain an advantage. (R. 288-90, 294-96). Indeed, Appellant repeatedly attacked Mother's credibility in his closing argument. (R. 412-13). Therefore, when the solicitor asked Small whether she had raised Victim to be truthful, the State was merely asking Appellant's witness about a subject Appellant had opened the door to: namely whether Victim was coached into lying by Mother.

**Deborah Robinson**

Appellant also alleges the solicitor bolstered the testimony of Victim through her cross examination of Robinson. Like the alleged bolstering by Small, this issue is also not preserved for appeal because Appellant did not object during the State's cross examination of Robinson. Even if this issue were preserved for appeal, just as Appellant did with his direct examination of

Small, Appellant opened the door to this testimony through the questions he asked of Robinson. (R. 344-48). Specifically, Appellant asked Robinson if she knew Mother to be a manipulative person. (R. 344). Robinson also described a conflict with Mother over who would claim Victim as a dependent for tax purposes. (R. 347-48). Like the questions posed to Small, the implication of Appellant's questions of Robinson was that Mother had previously been manipulative in dealing with law enforcement and had used the court system to her advantage. Therefore, Appellant opened the door to the Solicitor's questions about Victim's truthfulness. See State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 137, 731 S.E.2d 604, 610 (Ct. App. 2012). ("When a party introduces evidence about a particular matter, the other party is entitled to introduce evidence in explanation or rebuttal thereof, even if the latter evidence would have been incompetent or irrelevant had it been offered initially.").

#### Aunt

Appellant alleges the solicitor improperly bolstered the testimony of Victim through the testimony of Aunt. Again, this issue is not preserved for appeal because Appellant did not object to any of Aunt's testimony. Assuming for the sake of argument that this issue is preserved for appeal, the question asked by the solicitor did not improperly bolster the testimony of Victim. Appellant alleges the following question by the State improperly bolsters Victim's testimony: "So despite all of this, [Victim]'s still never said she made it up or recanted?" (R. 74, lines 16-17). Aunt was called primarily as an outcry witness by the State. Accordingly, Aunt appropriately testified about the time and place of Victim's disclosure. Asking an outcry witness whether a disclosure was ever recanted does not bolster a victim's testimony. Only a statement by an outcry witness about the credibility of Victim's disclosure would be improper bolstering.

Here, Aunt did not comment on Victim's credibility or offer an opinion on her disclosure.

Therefore, Aunt did not improperly bolster Victim's testimony.

**Dr. Lamb**

Finally, Appellant alleges the solicitor improperly bolstered Victim's testimony through the testimony of Dr. Lamb. Unlike each of the previous witnesses whom Appellant alleges improperly bolstered Victim's testimony, Appellant actually did make two objections to bolstering during Dr. Lamb's testimony. First, Appellant objected to following question by the solicitor: "Okay. And would there ever be an occasion where a child could see blood or red on a perpetrator's penis?" (R. 234, lines 21-22). The solicitor's question was not intended to bolster the testimony of Victim. Rather, the solicitor asked an expert witness a proper hypothetical question based on facts in the record. This Court has previously held "An expert may give an opinion based upon personal observations or in answer to a properly framed hypothetical question that is based on facts supported by the record." State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 474, 523 S.E.2d 787, 794 (Ct. App. 1999). (quoting State v. Evans, 316 S.C. 303, 311, 450 S.E.2d 47, 52 (1994)). Here, Victim had already described Appellant's penis as being "yellow and got black spots on it." (R. 107, line 11). Therefore, the State asked Dr. Lamb a proper hypothetical question based on a description Victim had already given the jury of Appellant's penis.

Appellant also objected to Dr. Lamb's answer to the following question: "Were you able to make any type of diagnosis in this case?" (R. 252, lines 17-18). Dr. Lamb answered the question by saying that Victim's exam "is consistent with her behavior, meaning that what she said could have happened--" (R. 252, lines 21-22). Appellant properly objected before Lamb could finish her answer. Appellant did not suffer any prejudice from Dr. Lamb's testimony because the solicitor withdrew her question after Appellant's timely objection. Accordingly, Dr.

Lamb did not complete her answer to the allegedly offending question and the jury did not hear the answer. Additionally, the solicitor's question was entirely proper for an expert in the field of examination, review and diagnosis of child sexual and physical abuse. The solicitor asked a broad question directly related to Dr. Lamb's field of expertise. The question was not designed to bolster Victim's testimony in any way. Despite the trial judge overruling Appellant's objection, the solicitor properly did not seek to expand on Lamb's answer or otherwise risk any additional offending testimony regarding the credibility of Victim's disclosure. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

## II.

**The issue of whether the solicitor improperly made inflammatory arguments to the jury is not preserved for appeal because Appellant did not make a contemporaneous objection to any of the State's alleged inflammatory arguments and nor did the trial judge rule on the allegedly improper arguments. Even if the solicitor's arguments had resulted in clear prejudice to Appellant, Appellant still did not preserve the issue for appeal, because Appellant did not raise the issue in a post-trial motion.**

Appellant contends inflammatory comments made by the solicitor during closing argument entitle Appellant to a reversal of his conviction even in the absence of a contemporaneous objection. Appellant concedes that this issue is not appropriately preserved for appeal, but nonetheless asks this Court to reverse Appellant's convictions anyway because of clear prejudice to Appellant. Appellant essentially argues for this Court to adopt the plain error rule. Because the plain error rule is not recognized in South Carolina, Appellant's argument is without merit. The arguments made by the solicitor were not so prejudicial and inflammatory to qualify as an exception to the plain error rule. Even if this Court concludes the comments by the solicitor were of such a prejudicial nature to warrant reversal, the issue is still not preserved for appeal, because Appellant did not raise the issue in a post-trial motion.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina “has routinely held the plain error rule does not apply in South Carolina state courts.” State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 421, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011). “Instead, it is the responsibility of trial counsel to preserve issues for appellate review. Only limited exceptions to this rule have been recognized.” Jackson v. Speed, 326 S.C. 289, 306, 486 S.E.2d 750, 759 (1997). In the absence of a contemporaneous objection, “a new trial motion should be granted in flagrant cases where a vicious, inflammatory argument results in clear prejudice.” Toyota of Florence, Inc. v. Lynch, 314 S.C. 257, 263, 442 S.E.2d 611, 615 (1994). However, “the issue of inflammatory argument must be raised to the trial judge by way of post-trial motion to preserve the issue for appeal.” Dial v. Niggel Associates, Inc., 333 S.C. 253, 257, 509 S.E.2d 269, 271 (1998).

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